NO. 70291-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT HITT,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	SU	MN	MARY OF ARGUMENT 1
В.	AS	SIC	SNMENTS OF ERROR 1
C.	ISS	SUE	S PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 3
D.	ST	AT	EMENT OF THE CASE6
E. ARGUMENT			
	1.	the of	e admission of Mr. Hitt's prior conviction for rape to prove State's sexual motivation special allegation where evidence sexual motivation was ambiguous violated Evidence Rule 4(b) in several regards
		a.	The trial court abused its discretion in determining the prior rape showed evidence of a common scheme or plan where the two crimes lack marked similarities
		b.	Separately, by failing to analyze whether the prior act was admissible as proof of motive or intent but allowing the jury to consider it for those purposes, the trial court failed to adhere to the rule's requirements
		c.	Had the court conducted the necessary analysis, it would have found the prior conviction for a different crime against a different victim cannot be used to show motive or intent in the instant case
		d.	Any of these errors requires reversal for a new trial
	2.	pro	ve convictions should be reversed because the State failed to ove beyond a reasonable doubt the alternative means of lnapping in the first degree
	3.	wit Sta	e court's instruction equating the reasonable doubt standard th an abiding belief in the truth of the charge diluted the te's burden of proof in violation of Mr. Hitt's due process to a fair trial

	4.	Cumulative trial errors denied Mr. Hitt his constitutional right to a fair trial
	5.	The sentencing court violated Mr. Hitt's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt by imposing a life sentence based on the court's finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Hitt had previously been convicted of a 'strike' offense 36
		a. Under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, a defendant has a right to a jury determination and proof beyond a reasonable doubt of any fact that increases his maximum sentence
		b. Because a prior 'strike' offense was used to increase Mr. Hitt's maximum sentence to life without parole, the constitution entitles him to have a jury determine beyond a reasonable doubt that he committed the offense
		c. In the alternative, under the traditional <i>Mathews</i> procedural due process analysis, proof to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt is required to confine an accused to life without parole under our State constitution
		d. Because the life sentence was not authorized by the jury's verdicts, the case should be remanded for resentencing within the standard range
	6.	The classification of the persistent offender finding as a 'sentencing factor' that need not be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment
		Strict scrutiny applies to the classification at issue because a fundamental liberty interest is at stake
		b. Under any standard of review, the classification at issue here violates the Equal Protection Clause
F.	СО	NCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court Decisions

In re Det. of Albrecht, 147 Wn.2d 1, 51 P.3d 73 (2002)
In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)27
State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)
State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 684 P.2d 668 (1984)
State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 74 P.3d 119 (2003)passim
State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)
State v. Garcia, No. 88020-4, Wn.2d, 318 P.3d 266 (Feb. 13, 2014)passim
State v. Gower, No. 88207-0, Wn.2d, 2014 WL 554468 (Feb. 13, 2014)
State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012)
State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)
State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)11, 13, 14, 18
State v. Manussier, 129 Wn.2d 652, 921 P.2d 473 (1996)

State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001)12, 21, 22
State v. Oster, 147 Wn.2d 141, 52 P.3d 26 (2002)
State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)
State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 196 P.3d 705 (2008)
State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)21, 22, 23, 26
State v. Smith, 150 Wn.2d 135, 75 P.3d 934 (2003)
State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 41 P3.d 1159 (2002)12
State v. Thorne, 129 Wn.2d 736, 921 P.2d 514 (1996)47
State v. Wheeler, 145 Wn.2d 116, 34 P.3d 799 (2001)38
State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 225 P.3d 913 (2010)
State v. Witherspoon, 177 Wn.2d 1007, 300 P.3d 416 (2013)
Washington Court of Appeals Decisions
State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992)
State v. Anderson, 112 Wn. App. 828, 51 P.3d 179 (2002)
State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009)

	State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 259 P.3d 270 (2011)
B	State v. Berube, 171 Wn. App. 103, 286 P.3d 402 (2012)
	State v. Burkins, 94 Wn. App. 677, 973 P.2d 15 (1999)
	State v. Castle, 86 Wn. App. 48, 935 P.2d 656 (1997)
	State v. Chambers, 157 Wn. App. 465, 237 P.3d 352 (2010)
	State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012)22, 26
	State v. Hecht, No. 71059–1–I, Wn. App, 2014 WL 627852 (Feb. 18, 2014)
	State v. McCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 284 P.3d 793 (2012)
	State v. McKague, 159 Wn. App. 489, 246 P.3d 558 (2011)
	State v. Rivas, 97 Wn. App. 349, 984 P.2d 432 (1999)
	State v. Sexsmith, 138 Wn. App. 497, 157 P3.d 901 (2007)
	State v. Tharp, 27 Wn. App. 198, 616 P.2d 693 (1980)
	State v. Venegas, 153 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010)
	State v. Wade, 98 Wn. App. 328, 989 P.2d 576 (1999)

State v. Wilson, 144 Wn. App. 166, 181 P.3d 887 (2008)						
State v. Witherspoon, 171 Wn. App. 271, 286 P.3d 996 (2012)						
State v. Yarborough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009)23, 24						
United States Supreme Court Decisions						
Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979)						
Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S. Ct. 1087, 84 L. Ed. 2d 53 (1985)						
Alleyne v. United States, U.S, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013) 37, 39, 40						
Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998) 38, 39						
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000) 36, 38, 39, 50						
Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004)						
City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, 473 U.S. 432, 105 S. Ct. 3249, 87 L. Ed. 2d 313 (1985)						
Descamps v. United States, U.S, 133 S. Ct. 2276, 186 L. Ed. 2d 438 (2013)						
Georgia v. Brailsford, 3 U.S. 1, 4, 3 Dall. 1, 1 L. Ed. 483 (1794)						
Hamdi v. Rumsfeld, 542 U.S. 507, 124 S. Ct. 2633, 159 L. Ed. 2d 578 (2004) 41, 44, 49						
In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)						

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)
Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 102 S. Ct. 2382, 72 L. Ed. 2d 786 (1982)
Shepard v. United States, 544 U.S. 13, 125 S. Ct. 1254, 161 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2005)
Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 541, 62 S. Ct. 1110, 86 L. Ed. 1655 (1942) passim
Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)
Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 98 S. Ct. 1930, 56 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1978)
Turner v. Rogers, U.S, 131 S. Ct. 2507, 180 L. Ed. 2d 452 (2011)
Washington v. Recuenco, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)
Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct 1479, 146 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)
Decisions of Other Courts
State v. Kress, 105 N.J. Super. 514, 253 A.2d 481 (1969)
State v. Stone, 122 Ariz. 304, 594 P.2d 558 (Ct. App. 1979)
United States v. Ruiz-Gaxiola, 623 F.3d 684 (9th Cir. 2010)
Constitutional Provisions
Const. art. I, § 3
Const. art. I, § 21

U.S. Const. amend. VI passin
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Statutes
RCW 9.68.09047
RCW 9.94A.030passin
RCW 9.94A.533
RCW 9.94A.535
RCW 9.94A.570
RCW 9.94A.825
RCW 9.94A.835
RCW 9A.40.020
RCW 9A.52.020
RCW 9A.56.200
RCW 9A.56.190
RCW 26.50.110
RCW 46.61.5055
Rules
Evidence Rule 404
Other Authorities
Black's Law Dictionary (4th rev. ed. 1968)
Slough and Knightly, Other Vices, Other Crimes, 41 Iowa L. Rev. 325 (1956)
WIGMORE 8 302

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Robert Hitt knocked repeatedly on the front door of a home looking for money for a taxi ride home and beer. When no one answered, he presumed no one was home and entered through a side window. He was surprised to come across multiple residents inside the home. He took their cell phones to prevent them from calling the police and intended to rob them. The police arrived after he had gathered six residents in one room. While he may be guilty of robbery and burglary, he should not have been found guilty of five counts of kidnapping and two special allegations of sexual motivation. The latter allegations were supported primarily by improperly admitted propensity evidence. The convictions and lifetime sentence should be reversed on these and other grounds.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence of a prior offense as evidence of a common scheme or plan in violation of Evidence Rule 404.
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion by concluding "That the evidence of the defendant's rape of JSN has a significant degree of similarity to the current allegations to be considered by the jury as evidence of a common scheme or plan." CP 424.

- 3. The trial court abused its discretion by concluding "The probative value of the evidence of the defendant's rape of JSN is exceptionally strong because of all the commonalities between the events and the probative value is^[1] substantially outweighed by the prejudicial effect. Whatever prejudice the defendant might experience is not unfair prejudice."
- 4. The trial court found, "There are a number of similarities between the two crimes which include..." and then listed purported similarities. This finding, including but not limited to the listed similarities, is not supported by substantial evidence. CP 423-24.
- 5. The trial court abused its discretion by failing to analyze whether the prior offense evidence was admissible for purposes of motive or intent yet allowed the jury to consider it for those purposes.
- 6. The trial court abused its discretion in entering conclusion three, to the extent it conflates common scheme or plan, motive and intent and is not supported by the court's findings of fact. CP 424.
- 7. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt each of the elements of kidnapping with regard to counts two, three, four, six and seven, violating Mr. Hitt's constitutional due process rights.

¹ Counsel presumes the word "not" was inadvertently omitted from the court's conclusion. *Compare* CP 424-25 with RP 300-01.

- 8. The trial court's instruction defining the burden of proof misstated the law and diluted the State's burden of proof.
- The cumulative effect of trial errors denied Mr. Hitt his constitutional right to a fair trial.
- 10. The imposition of a life without the possibility of parole sentence based upon the trial court's determination, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Hitt had a prior conviction that qualifies as prior offense under RCW 9.94A.030(37)(b)(ii) violated his right to due process and a jury determination of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.
- 11. The imposition of a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based upon the trial court's determination, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Hitt had a prior conviction that qualifies as prior offense under RCW 9.94A.030(37)(b)(ii) violated his right to equal protection of the law.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Evidence of a prior offense is presumptively inadmissible to show action in conformity. The State bears a substantial burden to demonstrate admissibility for another purpose, and the trial court must analyze the admissibility on the record, resolving doubtful cases in favor of exclusion. The evidence may be admitted to show the charged actions were part of a common scheme or plan only if there are marked similarities between the incidents showing they were the result of design.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of a prior conviction for a different crime against a different victim for purposes of common scheme or plan where the prior offense and current charge lacked marked similarities?

- 2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by only analyzing admissibility of the prior offense evidence for the purpose of common scheme or plan but allowing the jury to consider it also for purposes of motive and intent?
- 3. As charged, the State was required to prove that in gathering the women Mr. Hitt had the specific intent to use them as a shield or hostage or to further robbery. Where there was no evidence of use as a hostage or shield for five of the counts and the general verdict does not assure the jury did not return a verdict based on this alternative means, should the court reverse those convictions?
- 4. The jury must decide whether the prosecution met its burden of proof, not search for the truth. The court instructed the jury that it could find the State met its burden of proof if it had an "abiding belief in the truth of the charge." Did the court misstate and dilute the burden of proof

in violation of due process by focusing the jury on whether it believed the charge was true?

- 6. Multiple errors may combine to deprive an accused person of a fundamentally fair trial, in violation of the due process clauses of the Washington and federal constitutions. In light of the cumulative effect of the errors assigned above, was Mr. Hitt denied a fundamentally fair trial?
- 7. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and a Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact that authorizes an increase in punishment. Did the sentencing court violate Mr. Hitt's constitutional rights by imposing a sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on the court's own finding, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Hitt had a prior conviction that qualifies as prior offense under RCW 9.94A.030(37)(b)(ii)?
- 8. Was Mr. Hitt's right to procedural due process under the state constitution violated when the court made a finding by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Hitt had a prior conviction that qualifies as prior offense under RCW 9.94A.030(37)(b)(ii)?
- 9. A statute implicating a fundamental liberty interest violates the Equal Protection Clause if it creates classifications that are not necessary to further a compelling government interest. The government has an interest in punishing repeat offenders more harshly than first-time

offenders. However, for some crimes, the existence of prior convictions used to enhance the sentence must be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and for others—like those at issue in the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA)—prior convictions used to enhance the sentence need only be proved to a judge by a preponderance of the evidence. Does the POAA violate the Equal Protection Clause?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Hitt spent the evening of March 4, 2012 and into early the next morning drinking at a bar in north Seattle. Pretrial Exhibit 4 at 4:40-5:05, 5:28-51; Pretrial Exhibit 6, p.7-8. When he left the bar, he was approached by a woman who wanted to sell him methamphetamine.

Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 35:35-30; see RP 431-32, 900.² He accepted, and used up the cash he had on him. Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 35:30-38.

Impaired and in need of cab fare to return home, Mr. Hitt approached the darkened, first home he encountered. Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 22:29-39; Exhibit 103 (#6920) at 2:58-3:10; see RP 898, 900. He knocked on the front door repeatedly but no one answered. RP 604-05, 1102-03; Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 21:09-15, 22:09-31, 24:50-55, 25:59-26:05, 31:03-07, 33:34-40, 47:34-38. Thinking no one was inside, Mr. Hitt threw a rock

² The consecutively-paginated volumes of the trial verbatim report of proceedings are referred to as "RP." The remaining volumes, including the transcripts of voir dire, are referred to by the first date transcribed, for example "3/13/13 RP."

through a side window and entered. Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 21:09-15, 24:50-57, 47:26-30; Exhibit 103 (#6920) at 2:58-3:03.

As it turned out, eight young women lived in the residence and were sleeping when Mr. Hitt entered. *E.g.*, RP 393-94, 397, 485-93, 110-01. He panicked and a highly disorganized series of events ensued. *E.g.*, Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 25:05-40; RP 579-81, 727, 853 (Hitt acted erratically and did not seem to have planned what he was doing).

Mr. Hitt went upstairs and E.H. opened her bedroom door. RP 493-97. He panicked and ran into her open doorway. RP 497-98. While he paced, E.H. asked him what he was doing. RP 499, 501. Mr. Hitt told E.H. he was going to rob her and asked who else was in the house. RP 500. When she told him there were seven others, Mr. Hitt wrapped her wrists together with electrical tape and they went to E.C.'s room. RP 500-01, 505-07. Mr. Hitt poked his head in, did not see E.C., put a small knife to E.H.'s neck and led her around to the other rooms to collect the other roommates. RP 506-15, 527, 530, 692, 821-25. At the other rooms, E.H. told her roommates they were being robbed and to come out and/or Mr. Hitt told the women to come out of their rooms or he would hurt E.H. RP 508-15, 522-26, 530-31, 533-34, 691-94, 922-25, 1109. He gathered six women in K.B.'s upstairs bedroom and had them lay face down on the ground; he took two of the women's cell phones so they could not call the

police. RP 514-15, 522, 526, 528, 530, 534-35, 536-37, 615, 619, 665, 693, 695-97, 717-18, 826, 829-30, 930-31. He wrapped their hands behind their back with the remaining electrical tape, including E.H. who had been able to undo her initial wrapping. RP 537-42, 544-47, 624-26, 699-701. When Mr. Hitt ran out of electrical tape, he asked the women for more. RP 553-54. K.B. pointed him to a roll of duct tape in her drawer. RP 556. When he went to tape K.B.'s hands, her bulky, fleece top frustrated him and he told her to remove it, which she did at least to her waist, and Mr. Hitt finished taping her hands while she lay face down on the floor like the others. RP 561-66, 594-96, 652-53, 860-61, 942, 1039-40, 1119-20, 1129-31.3 Two other roommates were overlooked in their rooms and were able to call the police. RP 399-404, 415, 534, 606, 610-11, 715, 792-93. Responding to the calls, the police ascended the stairs after Mr. Hitt completed binding K.B. RP 423-28, 568-69, 654-56. He came out of the room and cooperated with the police, saying "I'm just here to rob them." RP 423-28, 480-81, 878-79, 1046, 1057, 1094.

Mr. Hitt immediately informed the police that he had made a mistake, he had only intended to get cab and beer money, he never intended to hurt anyone, and he had no idea that any people—let alone eight—were inside when he entered. *E.g.*, Exhibit 103 (#6636) at 21:00-

³ Mr. Hitt apparently thought it was just a sweater, but it turned out to be a one piece pajama outfit. RP 561-62, 564-66, 671, 966-67.

48:00; Exhibit 103 (#6920) at 2:58-3:20; RP 432. Nonetheless, the State charged Mr. Hitt with one count of first degree burglary (RCW 9A.52.020), six counts of first degree kidnapping premised on intent to hold as a hostage or shield and to facilitate robbery (for each woman taken into K.B.'s bedroom) (RCW 9A.40.020(1)(a)(b)), and two counts of first degree robbery (for each of the cell phones) (RCW 9A.56.200(1)(a)(i) & 9A.56.190). CP 1-7. The State added a special allegation of sexual motivation to the burglary charge and to the kidnapping charge pertaining to K.B. *Id.* (citing RCW 9.94A.835). The State further charged that each of the counts was committed while armed with a deadly weapon, the knife. *Id.* (citing RCW 9.94A.825 & RCW 9.94A.533(4)).

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