NO. 70291-2-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# DIVISION I

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

ROBERT HITT,

Appellant.

#### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

# THE HONORABLE JEFFREY RAMSDELL

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG

0

DENNIS J. McCURD Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

#

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

#### 3. EVIDENCE OF THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR RAPE WAS IMPROPERLY ADMITTED

Prior to trial, the State asked the court to rule on the admissibility of evidence of a prior rape the defendant committed in October of 2001. The court ruled that pursuant to ER 404(b), evidence of the defendant's prior rape was admissible as a "common scheme or plan" relevant to show the defendant's motive and intent in regards to the two sexual motivation special allegations charged with count I (First-Degree Burglary) and count III (First-Degree Kidnapping involving victim KB). The State concedes the trial court's ruling was in error, an error that was prejudicial only to the sexual motivation special allegations attached to count I and count III.

#### a. ER 404(b) And The Admission Of Prior Bad Acts

The admission of prior bad act evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in

.

conformity with that character is categorically prohibited by ER 404(b). <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). However, prior bad act evidence may be admissible for other purposes, "such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

Another basis for admission of prior bad act evidence is where the prior acts evidence a "common scheme or plan," i.e., where the evidence of prior acts follows a single plan to commit separate but very similar crimes. <u>State v. Lough</u>, 125 Wn.2d 847, 852, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). To establish a common design or plan, "the evidence of prior conduct must demonstrate not merely similarity in results, but such occurrence of common features that the various acts are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which the charged crime and the prior misconduct are the individual manifestations." <u>State v. DeVincentis</u>, 150 Wn.2d 11, 19, 74 P.3d 119 (2003) (citing Lough, at 860). The degree of similarity for the admission of evidence of a common scheme or plan must be substantial. <u>DeVincentis</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 20.

In ruling on the admission of prior bad act evidence, the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the

× 8

misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is offered, (3) determine if the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 853.

### b. The Prior Bad Act And The Trial Court's Ruling

On October 29, 2001, the defendant committed an act of rape against JSN, a 19-year-old University of Washington student.<sup>9</sup> On that date, the defendant called a local sandwich shop and ordered a sandwich to be delivered to his apartment located at 3500 NW 65<sup>th</sup> Street in the University District. JSN was the delivery person.

When JSN knocked on the door, the defendant, who had been drinking, answered the door. He told JSN he forgot his wallet and asked her to step inside. As JSN stepped inside, the defendant stepped over to a closet, with JSN thinking that he was going to get some money. The defendant then stepped behind

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The following facts are found in the sources of information that were before the trial court. The sources consist of the certification for determination of probable cause, guilty plea form and judgment & sentence under King County cause number 01-1-09775-6 SEA (the prior rape charge), the transcript of the defense interview of JSN, the briefing of the parties, the certification for determination of probable cause under King County cause number 12-1-01438-4 SEA (the current charge), pretrial exhibit 13 (statement of Officer Ness), and pretrial exhibit 14 (Emergency Room Report). CP 422; RP 236-37.

JSN, closed the door, put a large serrated knife to JSN's throat and told her to be quiet or he would cut her throat.

The defendant then forced JSN over to the couch in his living room where there was a glass of wine and a marijuana pipe sitting on the table. Pornography was playing on the TV. The defendant ordered JSN to take her jacket off, after which he took her shirt and bra off and tried to take her pants off, until JSN told him that she was on her period. While holding the knife, the defendant said to JSN, "[d]o me a favor, go down on me." He then raped JSN orally and ejaculated inside her mouth.

After raping JSN, the defendant proceeded to talk with her for approximately 20 minutes. He talked about his mother, how he had been trying to turn his life around and asking JSN not to call the police. Finally, JSN broke for the door but she was beaten there by the defendant. JSN asked the defendant if he was going to kill her. The defendant laughed and handed the knife to JSN. He told JSN that he probably ruined her life and then he let her go. At some point during the incident, JSN offered the defendant the money she had on her to let her go.

Based on these facts, the court found that the two incidents shared such a significant degree of similarity as to evidence a

1406-3 Hitt COA

common scheme or plan, the common scheme or plan being relevant because it served as evidence of the defendant's motive and intent in regards to the sexual motivation special allegation as charged in counts I and III. CP 424 (the court's written Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law).

In making its ruling, the court relied on the following alleged similarities:

(1) Neither event was well thought out; rather, the events appeared to be impulsive acts by the defendant.

(2) Both crimes occurred in a residence.

(3) In both cases the defendant used a knife and threatened to slit the victims' throat to gain compliance.

(4) Both cases involved college age females.

(5) Both cases involved the defendant ingesting alcohol and mind-altering drugs.

(6) In both cases the victim offered the defendant money to get away.

(7) In both cases the victim was ordered to disrobe.

(8) In both cases the victim was naked at least from the waist up.

(9) In both cases the defendant expressed concern about being caught by the police.

(10) In both cases the defendant expressed repeated self-loathing because of his acts.

(11) In the first case, the defendant had been watching pornography. In the second case, he had been drinking with a woman at a bar but was rejected after her boyfriend showed up. The court found from this that the defendant "is lonely and despondent and then decides that his needs, wants, desires are going to be met in another fashion."

CP 23-24.

The trial court then ruled, as a conclusion of law, that the degree of similarity between the defendant's rape of JSN and the current allegations demonstrated a "common scheme or plan" that was "relevant because it serves as evidence of the defendant's motive and intent as alleged in the aggravating factor, specifically whether the defendant was acting with sexual motivation as alleged by the State in counts 1 and 3." CP 424.

#### c. The Problem With The Trial Court's Ruling

The problem with the trial court's ruling is that it appears that the court merely looked to identify facts common to both cases and when the court identified a certain number of facts common to both cases, the court concluded this alone evidenced a "common scheme or plan." However, many of the identified facts are innocuous, not acts of the defendant, or while they are facts common to both cases, they are not facts suggestive of an actual plan to commit the crime of rape. Taken together with the substantial differences that exist between the two cases, the common facts do not evidence a "single plan to commit separate but very similar crimes" as required by <u>DeVincentis</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Lough</u>, <u>supra</u>.

To begin, the trial court's first finding -- that the crimes were "impulsive" acts and were not well thought-out, is in direct contrast to a finding that the defendant possessed a common scheme or plan to commit rape. To act impulsively is to act on impulse, to act with "a sudden spontaneous inclination or incitement to some unusual unpremeditated action." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary at 626-27 (11<sup>th</sup> ed. 2003). In other words, the court's finding actually indicates that the defendant acted without a plan. Additionally, the fact that the defendant ingested alcohol and drugs in both cases likely increased the probability that he acted impulsively, not with a singular common plan.

Similarly, the common fact that both crimes occurred in a "residence" does not evidence a plan to commit rape, especially when one considers the substantial differences between the two locations and manner in which the crimes were committed. In the

. .

first case, the crime occurred in the defendant's own apartment, with the victim being an invitee lured to the location on a ruse. In the second case, the crime occurred in a residential home of persons unknown to the defendant. Before entering, the defendant pounded on the door in an apparent attempt to make sure that nobody was home, and then he broke into the home by throwing a large rock through the window and climbing inside. In other words, while both crimes did occur in a residence (a common fact to many crimes), access to the residences, access to the victims, and the proprietorship of each residence, was completely different. This also highlights another common fact relied upon by the court, the fact that in both cases the victims were college age females.

The fact that a person may target victims of a certain age or sex can be evidence of a common plan, e.g., a pedophile targeting young boys of a certain age. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>DeVincentis</u>, <u>supra</u>. Here, however, there is no evidence that when the defendant broke into the University area home, he knew that anybody was home, let alone that he knew the sex or age of the person or persons who lived there. Thus, the fact that the victims in the second incident were of similar age and the same sex as the victim in the first

1406-3 Hitt COA

......

- 24 -

incident does not show a common scheme or plan to commit the crime of rape where the similarity was by happenstance.

Likewise, the fact that each victim offered the defendant money is not a factor showing a common scheme or plan because this is an act of the victim, not the defendant. The common fact of being concerned about getting caught by the police and expressing self-loathing, while similar in both cases, are fears or emotions of the defendant but they do not evidence a plan to commit the crime itself.

In short, while the trial court identified facts common to both cases, the court did not explain how the common facts evidenced a common plan. Per the Supreme Court's interpretation of ER 404(b), the rule requires that the evidence of the prior conduct must demonstrate not merely similarity in results, but common features that "are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which the charged crime and the prior misconduct are the individual manifestations." <u>DeVincentis</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 19. And the degree of the similarity of the evidence of a common scheme or plan "must be substantial." <u>DeVincentis</u>, at 20. The State concedes that the evidence here was insufficient to prove the defendant possessed a common scheme or plan to commit rape.

- 25 -

.. .

#### d. The Result Of The State's Concession

The erroneous admission of prior bad act evidence is grounds for reversal only if it is prejudicial. <u>State v. Bourgeois</u>, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). Thus, the erroneous admission of ER 404(b) evidence requires reversal "only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial." <u>State v. Halstien</u>, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (quoting <u>State v. Tharp</u>, 96 Wn.2d 591, 599, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)). Here, the error was partially prejudicial and partially harmless.

The defendant was caught in the act and literally confessed to the crimes charged – with one exception, the sexual motivation special allegation charged along with counts I and III. In admitting the 404(b) evidence, the trial court specifically held that the evidence of the defendant's prior rape was admitted for a singular purpose, "whether the defendant was acting with sexual motivation as alleged by the State in counts 1 and 3." CP 424. To this end, prior to JSN testifying, the court instructed the jury that:

Ladies and gentlemen, you are about to hear testimony from [JSN]. This testimony is admitted only for a limited purpose. The testimony may be considered by you only for the purposes of determining whether the State has met its burden of

. .

proof with regard to motive as relevant to counts I and III, and it may not be considered for any other purposes.

RP 1180.10

. . .

An allegation of sexual motivation requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that sexual gratification was among the defendant's purposes in committing the charged offense. <u>State v.</u> <u>Thompson</u>, 169 Wn. App. 436, 476, 290 P.3d 996 (2012), <u>rev.</u> <u>denied</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1023 (2013); RCW 9.94A.030(47). The State must present "evidence of identifiable conduct by the defendant while committing the offense which proves beyond a reasonable doubt the offense was committed for the purpose of sexual gratification." <u>State v. Halstien</u>, 122 Wn.2d 109, 120, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

Here, the State cannot argue that the admission of the prior rape evidence did not influence the jury in returning verdicts that the defendant committed the burglary and kidnapping of KB at least in part for purposes of his sexual gratification. Unlike the underlying charges and the other seven charges, the evidence that the defendant acted with the purpose of his sexual gratification was not overwhelming and the defendant did not confess that this was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A similar limiting instruction was read to the jury along with the other jury instructions at the conclusion of the case. CP 199 (Instruction 7).

his purpose. However, in regards to the underlying charges, the other seven charges and all the other enhancements, the evidence was overwhelming, the defendant confessed and was caught in the act, and thus the charges and enhancements were unaffected by the trial court's error. Resentencing is required.

#### 4. THE DEFENDANT'S CUMULATIVE ERROR CLAIM SHOULD BE REJECTED

The defendant contends that the cumulative effect of the errors alleged warrants a new trial, even if they do not justify a reversal individually. This claim should be rejected.

An accumulation of errors that do not individually require reversal may still deny a defendant a fair trial. <u>State v. Coe</u>, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 P.2d 668 (1984). It is axiomatic, however, that to seek reversal pursuant to the "accumulated error" doctrine, the defendant must establish the presence of multiple trial errors <u>and</u> that the accumulated prejudice affected the verdict. Reversals due to cumulative error are justified only in rather extraordinary circumstances.<sup>11</sup> Here, as explained in the sections above, only one error occurred and it does not warrant a new trial.

. . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> <u>See, e.g., State v. Perrett</u>, 86 Wn. App. 312, 323, 936 P.2d 426 (police officer's comment on defendant's post-arrest silence, testimony regarding prior confiscations of defendant's guns, and trial court's exclusion of key witness's conviction for crime of dishonesty cumulatively warranted a new trial), rev.

### 5. THE DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGES TO THE PERSISTENT OFFENDER ACCOUNTABILITY ACT ARE MOOT

The defendant makes multiple legal challenges to the Persistent Offender Accountability Act. In light of the State's concession that the sexual motivation special allegations must be reversed and the defendant resentenced as a non-persistent offender, the defendant's challenges are moot. <u>See State v. Ross</u>, 152 Wn.2d 220, 228, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004) (A case is moot "if a court can no longer provide effective relief").

....

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